RECEIVED

Oct 08 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-40-01231
Appellate Case No. 2021-000465

Kevin O'Hara, Rebekah H. O'Hara and Krebone Enterprises, LLC,Respondents,

v.

Middleborough Horizontal Property Regime,Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT MIDDLEBOROUGH
HORIZONTAL PROPERTY REGIME

Kirby D. Shealy III
Luke M. Allen
ADAMS AND REESE LLP
1501 Main Street, 5th Floor
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: (803) 254-4190
kirby.shealy@arlaw.com
luke.allen@arlaw.com

AND

D. Ryan McCabe
Christian Saville
McCABE, TROTTER & BEVERLY, P.C.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the circuit court err in failing to find that Appellant's Master Deed and Bylaws prohibit Respondents' use of their apartments as short-term rentals?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a circuit court order declaring that Appellant's Master Deed and Bylaws do not prohibit Respondents from using their apartment units for short-term rentals, and a subsequent order denying Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend.

On February 28, 2019, Respondents Kevin and Rebekah H. O'Hara filed a summons and complaint in the circuit court seeking a declaratory judgment and an order restraining and enjoining Appellant from prohibiting them from renting their units in Middleborough on a short-term basis, interfering with the renters' right to use common areas, and "otherwise violating the Master Deed regarding any restrictions on the [Respondents'] leases not set forth in the Master Deed." The parties reached a temporary agreement shortly after litigation began to preserve the status quo regarding the rentals until the circuit court issued its ruling.

On May 30, 2019, Appellant filed an amended answer and counterclaim seeking a declaratory judgment and an order enjoining Plaintiffs from facilitating the short-term rental of their units, an order enforcing restrictive covenants, and an order requiring Respondents to specifically perform under the provisions of the governing documents. In its counterclaim, Appellant contended the requirement in Article XI, Section A(1) of the Bylaws that "[a]partments in Phase 1 shall be used only as residences" prevents short-term rentals. Additionally, Appellant filed a third-party complaint against Krebone Enterprises ("Krebone"), a limited liability company Respondents created to facilitate their short-term rentals. After

Krebone moved to dismiss the third-party complaint, the parties entered into a consent order by which they mutually agreed to join Krebone as an additional Plaintiff.

The parties tried the case before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis on January 29, 2021. On March 3, 2021, the circuit court entered an order ruling in favor of the Respondents. On March 15, 2021, Appellant filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. The circuit court issued an order denying Appellant's motion on April 12, 2021. Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal on April 30, 2021.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant is a Horizontal Property Regime created under a Master Deed executed and recorded pursuant to the South Carolina Horizontal Property Act (SCHPA), S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-10 *et seq.* (R. p. 319 and R. p. 334). Middleborough is an eighteen-story high rise condominium located in Columbia, South Carolina. (R. p. 319, ¶ C). As provided in the Master Deed, Middleborough consists of two phases: Phase 1 consists of 192 residential apartments. (R. p. 319). Phase 2 was created by amendment to the Master Deed dated December 21, 1984, adding the first floor and basement as residential rental space and allowing use of those areas as residential rental space or as commercial retail or office space. (R. pp. 319-327). The Bylaws of Middleborough Horizontal Property Regime (the "Bylaws") were recorded as Exhibit D to the Master Deed and incorporated therein. Article XI, Section A(1) of the Bylaws, captioned "Restrictions," provides as follows: "Apartments in Phase I shall be used only as residences." (R. p. 319; R. p. 345).

Respondents are the owners of Apartment Units 2J and 14G located within Phase 1 of the Middleborough Horizontal Property Regime. (R. pp. 249, lines 9-15). They purchased the units on March 31, 2015 and August 25, 2017, respectively. (R. pp. 249, lines 7-15; R. pp. 315-318).

Respondents thereafter renovated and furnished the apartments so as to be suitable for short-term rentals and established an LLC, Krebone, along with a website to facilitate the rental of the units. (R. p. 252, lines 7-18). However, Respondents decided not to use Krebone to rent the units after learning about the online platforms of Airbnb and VRBO. (R. p. 252 line 20 – p. 253, line 1).

Since their purchase of Unit 2J, Respondents have continuously advertised and rented the unit as a short-term rental through Airbnb and VRBO. (R. p. 280, line 22 – p. 281, line 7). At trial, Mr. O’Hara testified that Unit 2J is available to reserve for a two-night minimum, as enumerated on the VRBO listing of the property presented at trial. (R. p. 250, line 21 – p. 251, line 16; R. p. 283, lines 4-6; R. p. 285, line 20). Mr. O’Hara further testified that the average stay for Unit 2J over the previous five years was 4.6 nights. (R. p. 292, lines 23-25). Both the Airbnb and VRBO listings for Unit 2J advertise the property as “perfect for Gamecock Football weekends, short corporate visits, family events, or weekend getaways.” (R. p. 281, line 23 – p. 282, line 3). The listings also provide for a “check-in” time at 4:00 p.m. or later and a “checkout” time of 11:00 a.m. (R. p. 283, lines 4-6; R. p. 285, line 20). At trial, Mr. O’Hara reaffirmed his deposition testimony that people “have typically come for some event,” and they’re often not even eating in the unit. (R. p. 281, line 23 – p. 282, line 3; R. p. 289, lines 15-18).

According to Mr. O’Hara’s testimony, no one renting his units at Middleborough has ever established utilities or a mailbox in their name. (R. p. 293, lines 5-18). Mr. O’Hara was only able to specifically recall one individual who rented the property for more than thirty days and he confirmed a nightly rate for renting Unit 2J. (R. p. 293, lines 19-25). Mr. O’Hara testified they do not know the person(s) staying in the unit prior to meeting with them to hand them the keys. (R. p. 294, lines 10-13). The VRBO listing actually allows “instant confirmation” of some users who wish to reserve the property. (R. p. 285, line 22 – p. 286, line 4). Mr. O’Hara testified

that he or his wife, Mrs. O'Hara, clean and replenish the unit between reservations. (R. p. 282, lines 24-25). Respondents testified they have only stayed in the units themselves once or twice while their house was being renovated. (R. p. 278, lines 13-15).

LEGAL STANDARD

“Declaratory judgment actions are neither legal nor equitable and, therefore, the standard of review depends on the nature of the underlying issues.” *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) “An action to enforce restrictive covenants by injunction is in equity.” *S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 622, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302 (2001). “This [c]ourt reviews all questions of law de novo.” *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009); *see also Clardy v. Bodolosky*, 383 S.C. 418, 425, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct. App. 2009) (“A legal question in an equity case receives review as in law.” (quoting *Sloan v. Greenville Cty.*, 356 S.C. 531, 546, 590 S.E.2d 338, 346 (Ct. App. 2003))).

“On appeal from an action in equity, [the appellate court] may find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Walker v. Brooks*, 414 S.C. 343, 347, 778 S.E.2d 477, 479 (2015). “However, this broad scope of review does not require this court to disregard the findings at trial or ignore the fact that the trial judge was in a better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses.” *Laughon v. O'Braitis*, 360 S.C. 520, 524-25, 602 S.E.2d 108, 110 (Ct. App. 2004). “Moreover, the appellant is not relieved of his burden of convincing the appellate court the trial judge committed error in his findings.” *Pinckney v. Warren*, 344 S.C. 382, 387-88, 544 S.E.2d 620, 623 (2001). In an action for declaratory relief, the burden of proof rests with the party seeking the declaration, and that party must meet its burden by a greater weight or preponderance of the evidence. *See Vt. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Singleton*, 316 S.C. 5, 10, 446 S.E.2d 417, 421 (1994).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT APPELLANT'S MASTER DEED AND BYLAWS PROHIBITED RESPONDENTS' USE OF THEIR APARTMENTS AS SHORT-TERM RENTALS.

A. The circuit court erred in failing to find that Respondents were not using their apartments "only as residences."

Respondents' use of Unit 2J and their intended use of Unit 14G as a short term-rental is prohibited by Article XI, Section A(1) of Appellant's Bylaws, which provides, "Apartments in Phase I shall be used only as residences." The determinative question is whether Respondents' use of the units constitutes something other than "as residences." Because the record in this case shows that Respondents' Unit 2J is demonstrably not being used "only as residences," the circuit court erred in failing to find that Respondents' use of their apartments as short-term rentals violates the Bylaws.

"The language of a restrictive covenant is to be construed according to the plain and ordinary meaning attributed to it at the time of execution." *Taylor v. Lindsey*, 332 S.C. 1, 4, 498 S.E.2d 862, 863-64 (1998). "Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature, so that the paramount rule of construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the parties as determined from the whole document." *Id.* (quoting *Palmetto Dunes Resort v. Brown*, 287 S.C. 1, 6, 336 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1985)).

Under any conceivably applicable definition of "residence," Respondents' repeated and continuous rental of their property to transient customers does not comply with a requirement that the property be used "only as residences." *Black's Law Dictionary* defines "residence" as "personal presence at some place of abode with no present intention of definite and early removal and with purpose to remain for undetermined period, not infrequently, but not

necessarily combined with design to stay permanently.” *Black's Law Dictionary* (5th ed. 1979). This definition was published two years prior to the recording of Appellant’s Master Deed and Bylaws. (R. pp. 318-327). A prior edition of *Black's Law Dictionary* defined residence as follows: “The place where a man makes his home or where he dwells permanently for a considerable length of time.” *Black's Law Dictionary* 1543 (3d ed. 1933) (quoted in *Roof v. Tiller*, 195 S.C. 132, 10 S.E.2d 333, 335 (1940)). *Oxford Languages*, the online dictionary integrated with Google, defines “residence” as “a person’s home; the place where someone lives.” Another applicable definition of “residence” comes from Merriam-Webster: “the place where one actually lives as distinguished from one’s domicile or a place of temporary sojourn.” *Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary* 996 (10th ed. 1993); *see also Hensley v. Gadd*, 560 S.W.3d 516, 523 (Ky. 2018) (residence is a “dwelling place or abode of a single person or family unit”).

In addition, South Carolina law draws a distinction between permanent residences and transient housing, which includes rooms at hotels, motels, inns and the like. For example, “[w]herever fees are charged in this State for any rooms, lodging, or accommodations furnished to transients by any hotel or motel, the rooms, lodgings, or accommodations must be furnished with” a lock system and a device allowing sight outside the door; however, these provisions do not apply to “residences of any nature.” S.C. Code Ann. § 45-1-90 (2015). While these definitions are not dispositive of the issue, they support the proposition that transient lodging is inconsistent with what is commonly considered a “residential use.” *See Taylor v. Lindsey*, 332 S.C. at 4, 498 S.E.2d at 863 (“Words of a restrictive covenant will be given the common, ordinary meaning attributed to them at the time of their execution.”).

Furthermore, while the term “residence” may have multiple meanings, it adopts a more definite meaning when accorded with the purpose behind the restriction. In this instance, the use of the word “only” to modify the phrase “as residences” is a clear indication that the drafters of the covenant intended to prohibit any use of the apartments that was not a residence. Viewing this language in conjunction with other restrictions in the document, the drafters evidenced a clear intent to preserve the character of the property as residential to the exclusion of commercial or business uses. *See id.* at 4, 498 S.E.2d at 863-64 (“‘Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature,’ so that the paramount rule of construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the parties as determined from the whole document.” (quoting *Palmetto Dunes Resort v. Brown*, 287 S.C. 1, 6, 336 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1985))). Specifically, Article XI(A)(2) provides:

No Co-owner shall maintain or permit any nuisance within his Apartment or unreasonably interfere with the use and enjoyment of the Apartment by any other person entitled to the same by creating anywhere on the Property of permission within his Apartment the creation of excessive noise, smoke or offense odors. No person shall maintain on the Property, and no Co-owner shall permit within his Apartment, any condition which is unreasonably hazardous to the life, health or property of any other person.

(R. p. 345).

This provision suggests uses that are incidental to a prescribed residential use may not violate the covenant if they are casual, infrequent, or unobstructive, and if they cause neither appreciable damage to neighboring property nor inconvenience, annoyance, or discomfort to neighboring residents. Thus, while the occasional renting of a spare room to a transient guest may not violate the spirit of the restriction, an operation that is neither casual, infrequent, nor unobstructive and which significantly impairs the residential nature of the apartment may be a violation.

The record in this case reveals that Plaintiffs have not and are not using Unit 2J as a residence, and therefore their proposed use of Unit 14G in the same manner would likewise not constitute use as a residence. Again, Unit 2J is available for reservations through Airbnb and VRBO for a minimum of two nights, is rented on a nightly rate with a “check-in” time of 4:00 p.m. or later and a “checkout” time of 11:00 a.m. (R. p. 283, lines 4-6; R. p. 285, line 20). Mr. O’Hara testified the average stay at the property is only 4.6 nights. (R. p. 292, lines 23-25). Such transient occupancy does not constitute the act of residing, living in, or making the property home. It is also significant that no customers who have rented the property have established utilities in their name or maintained a postal address at Middleborough. (R. p. 293, lines 5-18). In fact, Mr. O’Hara testified most of those staying at the property are not even eating there. (R. p. 289, lines 15-18). Accordingly, the circuit court erred in failing to find that the property at issue is not being used only as a “residence” under any applicable definition thereof.

B. The circuit court erred in failing to distinguish between a covenant restricting property to “residential purposes” and the provision in Appellant’s Bylaws that “Apartments in Phase 1 shall be used only as residences.”

Additionally, Appellant respectfully submits that the circuit court failed to squarely address a key component of Appellant’s argument at trial. Appellant argued that Respondents’ use of Unit 2J and their intended use of Unit 14G as short term-rental properties is prohibited by Middleborough’s Bylaws requiring “Apartments in Phase I shall be used only as residences.” The circuit court’s order devotes the majority of its analysis to the question of whether a restrictive covenant limiting property to “residential use” or for “residential purposes” constitutes a prohibition on short-term rentals. The circuit court ultimately concluded that such a restriction does not prohibit short-term rentals because the term “residential purposes” generally “relates to

the character of the use, not its term, and that short-term rentals are not precluded as inconsistent with residential uses.” (R. p. 11).

In reaching this conclusion, the circuit court relied almost exclusively on cases that discuss short-term rentals in the context of restrictive covenants that require property be used for “residential purposes,” or zoning cases that discuss whether the use of the property constitutes a “residential” purpose as opposed to a “commercial” purpose. (R. pp. 10-11). However, Appellant does not argue that short-term rentals cannot ever be used for “residential” purposes, such as eating, sleeping, or other activities generally associated with a personal dwelling. Rather, Appellant’s argument centers on the distinction between a provision restricting property to “residential purposes” and Middleborough’s specific provision that apartments shall be “used *only as residences*” (emphasis added).

While neither term is defined in the Bylaws or Master Deed, Appellant maintains that the term “residential purposes,” is less restrictive than a provision requiring apartments be “used only as residences.” As the circuit court notes, the term “residential purposes” relates to “the character of its use, not its term.” (R. p. 11). In that regard, a property such as a hotel, business, or even an office building arguably may be used for “residential purposes” when a person uses the property for activities generally associated with a personal dwelling. A “residence,” on the other hand, refers to the specific physical place where a person makes his or her home, coupled with an intent to reside there for an undetermined period. *See Black’s Law Dictionary* (5th ed. 1979) (defining “residence” as “personal presence at some place of abode with no present intention of definite and early removal and with purpose to remain for undetermined period, not infrequently, but not necessarily combined with design to stay permanently”); *see also Black’s Law Dictionary* 1543 (3d ed. 1933) (defining “residence” as “[t]he place where a man makes his

home or where he dwells permanently for a considerable length of time.”); *Merriam Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary* 996 (10th ed. 1993) (defining “residence” as “the place where one actually lives as distinguished from one’s domicile or a place of temporary sojourn.”). Therefore, although the manner in which Plaintiffs have used their apartments arguably may not always be inconsistent with a “residential purpose,” it is certainly inconsistent with the common definitions of the term “residence.”

The circuit court’s focus on a “residential purpose” restriction failed to address this distinction. While the Order states in passing that the “word ‘residence’ is one of multiple meanings,” it does not actually cite to or analyze any of those definitions. (R. p. 11). Under South Carolina law, the language of a restrictive covenant is to be construed according to the “plain and ordinary meaning attributed to it *at the time of execution.*” *Taylor v. Lindsey*, 332 S.C. at 4, 498 S.E.2d at 863-64 (emphasis added). The definition of “residence” from just two years prior to the execution of Middleborough’s Master Deed and Bylaws was “personal presence at some place of abode with no present intention of definite and early removal and with the purpose to remain for undetermined period, not infrequently, but not necessarily combined with design to stay permanently.” *Black’s Law Dictionary* (5th ed. 1979); *see also Berkeley Cty. Sch. Dist. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 383 S.C. 334, 345, 679 S.E.2d 913, 919 (2009) (“Whe[n] a word is not defined in a statute, our appellate courts have looked to the usual dictionary meaning to supply its meaning.”); *S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. City of Columbia*, 431 S.C. 164, 168-69, 847 S.E.2d 257, 259 (Ct. App. 2020) (relying on *Black’s Law Dictionary* and *Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary* to define the word “residence”); *Centex Int’l, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 406 S.C. 132, 144, 750 S.E.2d 65, 71 (2013) (relying on *Black’s Law Dictionary* and *Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary* to provide the meaning of a word not defined in the statute).

When considered in the context of the dictionary definition at the time of the covenant's execution, as required by South Carolina case law, the provision that "Apartments in Phase I shall be used only as residences" can only be interpreted as precluding transient use of the property for short, predetermined durations lasting as few as two nights by occupants who are unlikely to return or make the property their home. Plaintiffs' short-term rental of their units does not conform to this requirement.

C. In addition to the distinction between "residential purposes" and "used only as residences," the case law cited in the Order is readily distinguishable from the present case.

Notwithstanding the above-mentioned distinction, the majority of recent case law regarding short-term rentals supports the conclusion that Respondents' use of the property would not be permitted even under a distinguishable "residential purposes" provision. The circuit court cites to the case of *Landing Development Corp. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 285 S.C. 216, 329 S.E.2d 423 (1985) for the proposition that the short-term rental of condos does not constitute a hotel operation. (R. p. 10). However, *Landing Development Corp.* dealt only with a zoning ordinance, not the interpretation of a restrictive covenant. Moreover, the zoning ordinance *Landing Development Corp.* addressed did not contain any provision requiring the properties be used "only as residences" or even for "residential purposes," but rather concerned the physical makeup of the buildings under the City's comprehensive plan. In fact, the word "residence" is completely absent from the opinion. Additionally, the supreme court ruled against the ordinance in part because the City had previously enforced the ordinance in an entirely contrary manner. By contrast, Appellant's provision is clearly denoted as a use restriction rather than a zoning/building restriction, and the provision actually requires that the properties be used "only as residences."

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