RECEIVED

Oct 08 2021

SC Court of Appeals

**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

**Appellate Case No. 2021-000465
Circuit Court Case No. 2019-CP-40-01231**

Kevin O'Hara, Rebekah H. O'Hara and Krebone Enterprises, LLC.....Respondents,

v.

Middleborough Horizontal Property Regime,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Wesley D. Peel (S.C. Bar No. 9283)
wpeel@brunerpowell.com
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC
Post Office Box 61110
Columbia, South Carolina 29260-1110
Telephone: 803-252-7693
Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE LENGTH OF LEASE TERMS FOR APARTMENTS IN A HORIZONTAL PROPERTY REGIME MAY ONLY BE RESTRICTED THROUGH NOTICE IN THE MASTER DEED PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA CODE SECTION 27-31-100(h).

The Middleborough Horizontal Property Regime was formed pursuant to the South Carolina Horizontal Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. Section 27-31-10 *et. seq* (SCHPA), on October 14, 1981, by the recording of its Master Deed with the Richland County Register of Deeds. (R. pp. 319-327). The Master Deed must contain certain items required by S. C. Code Ann. Section 37-31-100. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-30 (1976). The Master Deed must include a description of the land, a general description of each apartment, the common elements, and the name of the regime. S. C. Code Ann. Section 27-31-100(h) requires that the Master Deed must express “(a)ny restrictions or limitations on the lease of a unit including, but not limited to, the amount and term of the lease.”

The Middleborough Master Deed does not contain any restriction or limitations related to the term of a lease. (R. pp. 319-327). In fact, the Master Deed does not contain any restrictions or limitations on leasing units. The Master Deed describes the property as containing “. . .192 residential apartments (“Apartments”) and a three (3) deck parking garage. . .” (Id.). Middleborough’s representative at trial, Ken Baker agreed that the Master Deed does not contain any provisions limiting the length of rental terms for the Apartments. (R. p. 307, lines 6-9). Mr. O’Hara relied on the Master Deed when he purchased the Units, and particularly reviewed the Master Deed to assure himself that there were no restrictions on lease terms. (R. pp. 249, line 19 – p. 250, line 19). If Middleborough wanted to restrict or limit Apartment leases, Master Deed Section IX.A. allows the Master Deed to be amended by the written agreement of all the Co-owners. (R.

pp. 319-327). Mr. O'Hara is not aware of any vote being taken to change the lease terms or any of the rules as required by the Master Deed. (R. p. 264, line 7 – p. 266, line 14).

II. MIDDLEBOROUGH'S ARGUMENT THAT THE RESPONDENTS WERE NOT USING THEIR APARTMENTS AS RESIDENCES DUE TO RENTAL TERM DOES NOT MATTER AS THE BY-LAWS CANNOT CHANGE THE MASTER DEED AND THE APPELLANTS CONFLATE THE TERM "RESIDENCE" WITH "DOMICILE."

The Master Deed describes the property, its common elements, and any restrictions on use of the real property. (S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-100 (1976)). A regime's By-Laws control the administration of the property and cannot change the character of the property as defined in the Master Deed. "The administration of the property constituted into horizontal property, whether incorporated or unincorporated, shall be governed by bylaws which shall be inserted in or appended to and recorded with the master deed or lease." (S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-150 (1976)). The by-laws therefore cannot affect the nature of the fee simple title, particularly in how the Apartments are generally used or leased. That is the sole province of the Master Deed.

Middleborough attempts to make a distinction between "used only as residences" and "residential purpose" or "residential use." Defendant fails to clarify how one term is different from the other. A purpose is the reason that something was created or for which it exists. "Use" is to employ something for a purpose. Appellant's only argument is that the amount of time a person spends in the unit can change the character of the Apartment's use. Appellant argues that the different lease terms change the character of the use of the Apartment in aberration of the Apartment's original purpose. The definition of use relates to the person occupying the unit, not the fee simple owner. Therefore, if someone is using a unit as a residence, they are also using it for "residential purposes." Even if "only as

residences” takes on the meaning suggested by Middleborough, it would not matter because the lease term is not a matter of administration of the property, but it is restricting the use of the fee simple owner, which must be in the Master Deed. Even if the intent in the By-laws was as argued by the Middleborough, it would not matter because the By-Laws cannot change the covenants in the Master Deed.

The terms “residential use,” “residential purposes,” “used only as a residence,” and “residential” all have the same meaning. They are all either adverbs, adverbial phrases, or adjectives that describe the manner in which the Apartments may be utilized. The Master Deed states that the property consists of “192 Residential Apartments.” (R. pp. 319-327). Middleborough’s argument regarding what is meant by using the Apartments as residences would mean that there is a long list of owners and potential owners that could not use their Apartments for their intended purposes. This group would include transient students, owners that held the Apartment only to stay in when they are in Columbia, Apartments owned by corporations, and annual leaseholders that do not intend to make Middleborough their residence but continue receiving mail at their domicile.

The court below correctly stated that “As long as the property is being used for living purposes, it does not cease being “residential” simply because the use is temporary instead of permanent. (R. p. 11). Neither the Master Deed or the By-Laws define the terms “residence” or “residential.” (R. pp. 319-327 and R. pp. 334-348). Middleborough, through its Amended Rules is attempting to require that a person be domiciled in the Apartment instead of using it as a residence. There is nothing in the Master Deed that would require an owner or tenant to intend to make the Apartment their permanent home. “It has been held that ‘residence’ is a more elastic and flexible term than domicile or citizenship. A person may have only one domicile but may have several residences.” Cook v. Fed. Ins.

Co., 263 S.C. 575, 582, 211 S.E.2d 881, 884 (1975). “[A] person's “legal residence” is often determined by his or her domicile, a person's “actual residence” will be determined by his or her “present physical location.” 25 Am. Jur.2d Domicile § 9 (2008). This distinction between actual residence and legal residence has long been recognized.” Est. of Nicholson ex rel. Nicholson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Hum. Servs., 377 S.C. 590, 597, 660 S.E.2d 303, 306 (Ct. App. 2008). Therefore, a person lawfully inhabiting a Middleborough Apartment whether as an owner or a tenant of any lease term, is using the Apartment as a residence.

Additionally, there are commercial units in the building in Phase II-A as shown in the Amendment to the Master Deed (R. pp. 328-333). Those units “may be used for residential purposes, including but not limited to, rental residential space, or any commercial purpose allowed by applicable law, including but not limited to, use of such Apartments as commercial retail space or commercial office space.” (*Id.*). The developers could have placed further restrictions on the units when filing the amendment. Master Deed Amended Section 5, states that the terms used in the amendment have the same meaning as in the Master Deed. Therefore, when it states that the units may be used for residential purposes, those purposes must include the same purposes as allowed in the original Master Deed, which the amendment makes clear was envisioned to include “rental residential space.” The Amendment also makes clear that the intent of the Master Deed as to residential use, includes renting of the residential units and distinguishes what is commercial purpose with retail or office space.

The Appellant cites a portion of the definition of the term “residence” from the 1979 edition of *Black's Law Dictionary* to try and place the definition it is using close to the time of filing the Master Deed. However, Middleborough only quoted a portion of the

definition of “residence,” from this vintage edition of *Black’s*. The definition was continued: “Residence simply requires bodily presence as an inhabitant in a given place, while domicile requires bodily presence in that place and also an intention to make it one’s domicile.” Black’s Law Dictionary, (Fifth Edition 1979). This definition matches our courts’ consistent interpretation of the term. Therefore, a renter of any term meets this definition as they have a bodily presence inhabiting the Apartment.

“Generally speaking, ‘residential use’ is one that involves activities generally associated with a personal dwelling.” 20 Am. Jur. 2d Covenants, § 179. “Similarly, a ‘residential building’ is a building which is used for residential purposes or in which people reside, dwell, or make their homes, as distinguished from one which is used for commercial or business purposes.” Id. “The phrase ‘residential purposes’ does not mean only the occupying of a premises for the purpose of making it one’s ‘usual’ place of abode; a building is a residence if it is ‘a’ place of abode.” Id. “The word ‘residence’ is one of multiple meanings, however, and hence the context in which it is used must be taken into consideration in determining its meaning in any particular case.” Id.

In Community Services Assocs. V. Wall, 421 S.C. 575, 808 S.E.2d 831 (Ct. App. 2017), the Court of Appeals found that the short-term rental of a portion of a villa in Sea Pines Plantation complied with the “Residential Purposes” requirement of the community’s restrictive covenants. The Sea Pines restrictive covenants stated that “All lots in said Residential Areas shall be for residential purposes exclusively.” Id. at 579, 833. The court found that the owner’s short-term rentals of a portion of their villa “do not violate the requirement that all lots shall be used for residential purposes.” Id. at 585, 836. The term “residential purposes” generally relates to the character of the use, not its term.

III. THE RENTAL OF APARTMENTS IN MIDDLEBOROUGH IS GOVERNED BY THE VACATION RENTAL ACT

Middleborough cites S.C. Code Section 45-1-90 (2015) in an attempt to define the O'Hara's rentals as "transient housing." The short-term rentals of condominium apartments in South Carolina are common and have been for years. Rentals, such as the O'Hara's, are governed by the South Carolina Vacation Rental Act, S.C. Code Section 27-50-210 *et seq.* The Vacation Rental Act applies to "Residential property" which includes apartments and condominiums, "devoted to residential use or occupancy by one or more persons for a definite or indefinite period." A "vacation rental" is a "lease, sublease, or other rental of residential property for a period of fewer than ninety days," but does not apply to rentals that would otherwise come under the South Carolina Residential Landlord and Tenant Act. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 27-50-220 (1976). The Vacation Rental Act excludes lodging provided by hotels or other entities that provide a front desk for customer service, or a centralized telephone system, or provide housekeeping services at no additional charge. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 27-50-220 (B)(3)(1976). Therefore, the General Assembly has determined that rentals such as the O'Hara's are for a residential use as the South Carolina Vacation Rental Act defines their units as "Residential Property."

The short-term rental of condos does not constitute a hotel operation. In Landing Development Company v. City of Myrtle Beach, 285 S.C. 216, 329 S.E.2d 423 (1985) the plaintiff sued Myrtle Beach to enjoin the City from denying rental permits for short-term rentals in a condominium that it was managing for individual apartment owners. Despite Middleborough's representation that the opinion does not contain the word "residence," the issue was short-term rental in A-3 zoning districts which are described as "accommodation, multi-family **residential** district." One of the issues was the definition

of the term “permanent occupancy” and that local ordinance required “occupancy by a permanent **resident**.” The city refused to issue the permits alleging that short-term rentals were not permitted in that particular zoning district. The City argued that the management company renting the units was operating a “motel operation,” just as Middleborough frames its argument against the O’Haras. The court in Landing found the units were individually owned and offered for rental through the management company and that “the fact of short-term rentals and the availability of convenience services to tenants do not operate to convert individually owned condominium units into a motel.” *Id.* at 221, 425. The city also argued that its zoning ordinance required the units to be used for “permanent occupancy,” much like Middleborough argues that its By-laws restrict use to “residential use.” The court in Landing found that the term “permanent occupancy” was not defined in the ordinance nor law equating that term with being a permanent **residence**. *Id.* at 219, 424.

Middleborough cites South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. City of Columbia, 431 S.C. 164, 847 S.E.2d257 (Ct. App. 2020) which found that the building in question was a dormitory eligible for tax credits. The subject of this case was an entire building, built for the purpose of housing students, where the parties stipulated that the dormitories “engage in the continuous activity of letting beds to students through the entering of a lease or other contractual arrangements between the student and the developer or property manager.” The question before that court was whether the dormitories were eligible for tax credits. But again, the O’Hara’s Apartments are governed by the South Carolina Vacation Rental Act and the South Carolina Horizontal Property Regime.

Middleborough’s discussion of the South Carolina cases dealing with short-term rentals attempt to distinguish between “use” and “purpose.” Clearly these are all the same

discussion regardless of the word chosen. Defendant cites the Kentucky case of Hensley v. Gadd 560 S.W.3d 516 (Ky. 2018) for the proposition that short-term rental is not a residential use. Defendant fails to address that Hensley is not governed by the Horizontal Property Act but relates only to restrictive covenants in a sub-division. The South Carolina Horizontal Property Act specifically requires that restrictions on terms of rental be placed in the Master Deed. S.C. Code Section 37-31-100(h) (1976). The restriction in Hensley also contained specific definitions regarding commercial activity. That is not true of the Middleborough Master Deed or Amendment which only lists retail and office use as specific commercial activities. (R. pp. 319-327 and R. pp. 328-333).

CONCLUSION

Because the Middleborough Horizontal Property Regime's Master Deed does not contain a restriction on rental terms as required by the Horizontal Property Act, and that the Respondents' renters are using the apartments for their intended use, this Court should affirm the judgment of the circuit court.